S229728



| Case | No. |  |  |
|------|-----|--|--|
|      |     |  |  |

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY, SUPREM

SUPREME COURT
FILED

Defendant and Appellant, vs.

OCT 05 2015

# SUNGHO PARK,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Plaintiff and Respondent.

Deputy

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

After the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B260047
Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles Case No. BC546792
Honorable Richard E. Rico

# **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Is a professor's claim that a public university denied him tenure because he was Korean, in violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act, subject to California Code of Civil Procedure § 426.16, the anti-SLAPP statute<sup>1</sup> merely because the tenure review process involves written communications by faculty members and academic administrators?

The Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District,

Division 4, answered this question in the affirmative in a 2-1 decision

(with Presiding Justice Norman L. Epstein dissenting) inconsistently
with this Court's decision in Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer

Causes, Inc. (2002) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 53 (Equilon) and with San Ramon

Valley Fire Protection District v. Contra Costa County Employees'

Retirement Association (2004) 125 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 343 (San Ramon).

# FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Professor Sungho Park filed a verified complaint on May 27, 2014, alleging that his former employer, defendant Board of Trustees of the California State University (CSU), discriminated against him based on his national origin, Korean, when it denied his application for a tenured faculty position and consequently terminated him. (Opn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> SLAPP is an acronym for Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation. All further statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise indicated.

at p. 2) Professor Park alleged that he met or exceeded the requirements under CSU policies for promotion to the rank of Associate Professor, a tenured position. He also alleged that at least three Caucasian faculty members in his division received tenure with records similar or inferior to his. (Opn. at 3)

CSU moved to strike Professor Park's complaint pursuant to section 425.16, arguing that the complaint was based on communicative acts of CSU within the tenure and grievance processes. (Opn. at p.4) The trial court denied the anti-SLAPP motion to strike, holding that the gravamen of Professor Park's complaint was not CSU's communicative conduct but rather the act of denying Professor Park tenure based on his national origin. Plaintiff could have omitted the allegations regarding communicative acts or filing a grievance and still state the same claims. (Opn. at p. 7)

CSU appealed. On August 27, 2015, the Court of Appeal for the Second District, Division 4, issued a split decision, which was certified for publication. The two-justice majority held that the anti-SLAPP statute applied because the gravamen of Professor Park's complaint – CSU's decision to deny him tenure – was entirely based on the evaluations of his performance and competence during the tenure and grievance proceedings. Thus, Park's claims were based on communications CSU made in connection with the tenure decision,

rather than any alleged discriminatory conduct "outside of the RTP process." (Opn. at pp. 13-14.)

Presiding Justice Epstein dissented. Citing and quoting Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53, he argued that, for the anti-SLAPP statute to apply, the act underlying the plaintiff's cause "must itself have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." Equilon, supra, at 66. In this case, Presiding Justice Epstein reasoned, the act underlying Professor Park's claim was the decision to deny him tenure. Although the tenure decision involves a process that necessarily requires communications and formal evaluations of the academic candidate, the act of denying tenure "itself is not a basis for the application of the anti-SLAPP statute." Presiding Justice Epstein pointed out that his colleagues in the majority would construe the anti-SLAPP statute as applying whenever the action of the defendant under attack in a lawsuit "is informed by protected free speech activity." "It is difficult to conceive of any collective governmental action that is not," Justice Epstein declared. He warned, "[R]eviewing courts must be careful not to conflate the process by which a decision is made with the ultimate governmental action itself." (Dissenting Opinion, p. 1)

The decision was modified on September 1, 2015. The majority decision became final on Saturday, September 26, 2015.

# **NECESSITY FOR REVIEW**

The majority's holding in this case will eviscerate the Fair Employment and Housing Act in relation to public entities. It will mean that whenever a public entity reaches a decision based on writings and communications, the decision will be subject to the anti-SLAPP statute. The majority's view is in conflict with this Court's holding in *Equilon* and its related cases and fundamentally undercuts existing law.

The anti-SLAPP statute applies only if the plaintiff's cause of action "aris[es] from any act of [the defendant] in furtherance of the [defendant's] right of petition or free speech." (§425.16(b)(1), italics added.) It is not enough that the plaintiff's complaint refers to writings or statements that were part of an "official proceeding" such as the tenure process. The mere fact that an action was filed after protected activity took place does not mean it arose from that activity. The wrongful act alleged in the complaint must have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech. Equilon, supra, at 66. The distinction between the action taken by a defendant and the process which led to the action is important because a process often may involve protected activities while the action itself is not. In addressing the possible misuse and misapplication of the anti-SLAPP statute, this Court noted that §425.16 contains express limitations on the availability and impact of anti-SLAPP motions because the

"arising from" requirement is not always easily met because of this distinction. *Equilon, supra,* at 66.

In the context of public entities where governmental action follows a process involving protected communications, the distinction between the action and the process required by *Equilon* is central in protecting against the misuse of the anti-SLAPP statute. In the context of public entities, an act of governance mandated by law, without more, is not an exercise of free speech or petition. *San Ramon, supra*, at 354. An action or decision by a public entity in violation of law is not in furtherance of the public entity's right of petition or free speech. *San Ramon*, at p. 346-347. To conclude otherwise would allow the anti-SLAPP statute to be used to discourage attempts to compel public entities to comply with the law. *Graffiti Protective Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1207, 1211.

Here, the Professor Park alleged that the California State
University (CSU) violated laws prohibiting employment
discrimination when he was denied tenure and terminated. The tenure
process in the CSU system is one mandated by statute. A violation of
employment discrimination laws in denying tenure is not the free
speech of CSU. The majority opinion directly conflicts with existing
California decisions and the requirements of the anti-SLAPP statute.

The majority opinion relies on several cases misapplying the anti-SLAPP statute in the context of hospital staffing decisions following a peer review proceeding. Nesson v. Northern Inyo County Local Hospital District (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 65, 83 (Nesson), disapproved on other grounds in Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hospitals (2014) 58 Cal.4th 655, 686, fn.18. In Neeson, the court held that the anti-SLAPP statute applied because the decision to terminate the plaintiff followed letters and a report which were part of a peer review process. The majority opinion found CSU's tenure decision to "arise from" protected activity because the tenure review process included written communications by faculty members and academic administrators. To the extent that the majority opinion holds that these decisions allow the anti-SLAPP statute to be applied simply because a governing body's decision came after a peer review process that may have involved protected free speech of faculty or administrators, there is a conflict between decisions of the Courts of Appeal which must be resolved.

This misapplication of the anti-SLAPP statute will chill the free speech and petitioning activity the anti-SLAPP law was intended to protect. This Court must grant review to settle this important issue of law.

# **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

I. This Court Should Grant Review Because the Majority's Decision is Inconsistent with This Court's Decision in Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc.

Anti-SLAPP motions are limited under §425.16 because they may be brought only if the plaintiff's cause of action "aris[es] from any act of [the defendant] in furtherance of the [defendant's] right of petition or free speech." (§425.16(b)(1), ital.. added.) In applying this requirement, this Court noted that there is an important distinction between the process by which a decision is made, which may involve protected activity and which precedes the action, and the ultimate action itself.

... Most importantly, section 425.16 requires every defendant seeking its protection to demonstrate that the subject cause of action is in fact one "arising from" the defendant's protected speech or petitioning activity. (§ 425.16, subd.(b).)

As courts applying the anti-SLAPP statute have recognized, the "arising from" requirement is not always easily met. [citation] The only means specified in section 425.16 by which a moving defendant can satisfy the requirement is to demonstrate that the defendant's conduct by which plaintiff claims to have been injured falls within one of the four categories described in subdivision (e), defining subdivision (b)'s phrase, "act in furtherance of a person's right of petition or free speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue." [citation].

As discussed more fully in the companion case *City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 69, the mere fact an action was filed after protected activity took place does not mean it arose from that activity. [citation] Rather, "'the act underlying the plaintiff's cause' or 'the act which forms the basis for the plaintiff's cause of action' must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." [citation]

Equilon, supra, 29 Cal.4th at 66.

Similarly, in *City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 69, this Court warned that focusing on anything other than the substance of a lawsuit risks allowing the defendant to circumvent the showing expressly required by § 425.16, subdivision (b)(1) that an alleged SLAPP *arise from* protected speech or petitioning.

That a cause of action arguably may have been triggered by protected activity does not entail that it is one arising from such.

City of Cotati, supra, 29 Cal.4th 69 at 78.

In the context of an official proceeding of a public entity, this distinction between the process which precedes an action and the action itself was addressed in *San Ramon*, *supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th 343, affirming the denial of a special motion to strike filed by a county retirement board against a mandamus petition challenging its decision to increase pension contributions. The court emphatically noted: "This case requires us to decide whether litigation seeking judicial review of an action or decision by a public entity is subject to a special motion to strike under the anti-SLAPP statute merely because the challenged action or decision was taken by vote after discussion at a public meeting. Our answer is no." *Id.* at pp. 346-347. The Court went further to draw the distinction between the conduct of individual public officials as opposed to the public entity's action or decision:

... Even if the conduct of individual public officials in discussing and voting on a public entity's action or decision could constitute an exercise of rights protected under the anti-SLAPP statute — an issue we need not and do not reach — this does not mean that litigation challenging a public entity's action or decision always arises from protected activity. In the present case, the litigation does not arise from the speech or votes of public officials, but rather from an action taken by the public entity administered by those officials. Moreover, that action was not itself an exercise of the public entity's right of free speech or petition. We therefore affirm the trial court's order denying the entity's special motion to strike. (emphasis added) Id., 125 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 343, 346-347.

Governance decisions of public entities are not protected by the anti-SLAPP statute. If they were, it would burden and chill the very petition activity the law is intended to protect. As Presiding Justice Epstein noted in his dissent, it is difficult to conceive of any collective governmental action that is not informed by protected free speech activity. Almost all governmental employment decisions involve some form of written communications or a grievance process which precedes the final decision. The majority opinion will discourage and chill any attempts to compel public entities to comply with the law. (Dissenting Opinion, p. 1)

Here, CSU similarly seeks to misuse the anti-SLAPP statute against Professor Park's claim that he was denied tenure by CSU in violation of laws prohibiting discrimination. Professor Park brought an action against CSU for discrimination on the basis of national origin and failure to prevent discrimination, alleging that he was

denied tenure due to his national origin. CSU's discriminatory conduct in denying Park tenure and terminating his employment violated state laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. This conduct is not the protected speech of the public entity.

The anti-SLAPP statute does not apply to a public entity's action denying tenure in violation of laws prohibiting discrimination. CSU endeavors to obscure the difference between the core injury-producing conduct with collateral or incidental allusions to protected activity. The gravamen of Professor Park's complaint was not CSU's communicative conduct in denying Professor Park's tenure or his grievance. It was based on the act of denying Professor Park's tenure based on national origin. As noted by the trial court, Professor Park could have omitted any allegations regarding communicative acts and still state the same claims.

That a cause of action arguably may have been triggered by protected activity does not entail that it is one arising from such. *City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 69, 78. The statutory phrase "cause of action . . . arising from" means simply that the defendant's act underlying the plaintiff's cause of action must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech. *Id.*, 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at 78. Here, CSU's conduct in denying Park tenure and terminating his employment violated state laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. This conduct is not protected activity.

CSU argued that its conduct falls under C.C.P. §425.16(1) and (2), i.e., written or oral statements or writings made "before" or made "in connection with an issue under consideration or review by" a judicial proceeding, or any other official proceeding authorized by law. However, Professor Park's claims are based on state laws requiring CSU to not discriminate based on national origin when considering tenure for its professors. Professor Park's claims are not based on any statement, writing, or conduct by the CSU in furtherance of its right of free speech or its right to petition the government for the redress of grievances.

The majority opinion will allow public entities to immunize their discriminatory actions by relying on a pre-decision process involving written communications by employees or managers and thereafter invoking a claim of free speech.

Professor Park's claim is similar to that in *Graffiti Protective*Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera (2010) 181 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1207

(Graffiti). There, the public entity's action was to terminate a contract. In our case, CSU's action was to terminate Park's contract by denying him tenure. The plaintiff in *Graffiti* alleged that the public entity's action violated the competitive bidding laws required of the city. Here, Park alleges that CSU's action violated the laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. The city, like CSU here, claimed that the conduct complained of arose out of the city's

protected speech in an official proceeding. *Id.* at 1218. The Court held that the City's conduct in terminating the contract in violation of competitive bidding laws, did not "arise out of" the city's protected speech, even though the decision was reached in an official proceeding.

... We conclude that, even if plaintiff's claims involved a public issue, they are not based on any statement, writing, or conduct by the city in furtherance of its right of free speech or its right to petition the government for the redress of grievances. Rather, plaintiff's claims are based on state and municipal laws requiring the city to award certain contracts through competitive bidding. Thus, the claims are not subject to the anti-SLAPP statute. . . . Were we to conclude otherwise, the anti-SLAPP statute would discourage attempts to compel public entities to comply with the law.

Id. 181 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1211.

The anti-SLAPP statute may not be used as a shield against lawsuits attempting to compel public entities to comply with the law. A public entity's conduct in violation of law cannot be considered in furtherance of the public entity's right of petition or free speech.

See also, *Schwarzburd v. Kensington Police Protection & Community Services District Board, et al.* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1345, 1352-1353 (anti-SLAPP statute does not apply to the public entity itself, though it applied to the individual defendants who were members of the board).

Citing this Court's ruling in *Cotati*, the Court in *San Ramon* summarized this rule in the context of public entities.

... Acts of governance mandated by law, without more, are not an exercise of free speech or petition. "[T]he defendant's act underlying the plaintiff's cause of action must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech. [Citation]"

San Ramon, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th 343, 354.

Here, the decision by CSU to deny Professor Park tenure in violation of the FEHA is not protected speech, even if the tenure process may have included protected speech of faculty or administrators.

The opinion below conflicts with *Equilon*. The majority opinion summarized its holding as follows:

Here, the gravamen of Park's complaint – CSU's decision to deny him tenure – is entirely based on the evaluations of his performance and competency during the RTP proceedings. Park has provided no basis for his claims of discrimination outside of the RTP process, which culminated in his termination. [Citation] As such, his claims are based squarely on CSU's tenure and termination decisions, "and concomitantly, communications [CSU] made in connection with making those decisions." [Citation]

(Opinion, page 13.)

Presiding Justice Epstein's dissenting opinion summarized how this decision ignores *Equilon*.

requires communications and, in this case, formal written evaluations of the academic candidate. But reviewing courts must be careful not to conflate the process by which a decision is made with the ultimate governmental action itself. As discussed in *Equilon*, "the act underlying the plaintiff's cause" or "the act which forms the basis for the plaintiff's cause of action" must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." (*Equilon*, quoting *ComputerXpress*, *Inc. v. Jackson* (2001) 93 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 993, 1003.) In this case,

that act was the decision to deny tenure to Professor Park. While the process which led to it may be protected by various privileges and immunities, the act itself is not a basis for application of the anti-SLAPP statute.

(Opinion, page 13.)

In ignoring *Equilon*, the majority opinion directly conflicts with the holdings in *San Ramon* and the cases that have consistently followed it.

II. This Court Should Grant Review Because the Majority's Decision Will Result in Two Different Interpretations of the "Arising From" Requirement of the Anti-SLAPP statute.

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