CASE NO. S229728

Filing Fee Exempt Pursuant to Government Code §6103

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

**BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE
CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY**

Defendant and Appellant,

vs.

SUNGHO PARK

Plaintiff and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 27 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate
District, Division Four, Case No. B260047
Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC546792
Honorable Richard E. Rico

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TOWLE DENISON & MANISCALCO LLP
Michael C. Denison, State Bar No. 60957
Email: mdenison@tdsmlaw.com
10866 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 600

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

ARGUMENT

A. Park Improperly Relies On *Equilon*

Park seeks review predominantly on the argument that the Opinion is inconsistent with this Court's opinion in *Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc.* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53. Park did not make that argument to the trial court, or to the Court of Appeal, and with good reason – *Equilon* is so factually dissimilar to this case as to be inapplicable. At the outset, *Equilon* is not a university tenure case, as is this case. Nor is it a hospital peer review case, which is analogous to this case, and to which the anti-SLAPP statute has been applied by this Court. *Kibler v. Northern Inyo County Local Hospital Dist.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 192. Indeed, *Equilon* is not even an employment case, from which other analogies might be derived.

Instead, in *Equilon* an oil company sued a consumer group for declaratory and injunctive relief relating to the consumer group's notice of intent to sue for private enforcement of the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act. The consumer group filed an anti-SLAPP motion, which was granted and affirmed on appeal. This Court granted review on the issue: "Must a defendant, in order to obtain a dismissal of a strategic lawsuit against public participation (SLAPP) under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16 (. . . the anti-SLAPP statute), demonstrate that

the action was brought with the intent to chill the defendant's exercise of constitutional speech or petition rights?" *Id.* at 57. This Court concluded it did not. *Id.* That issue and ruling were not issues in this case.

In Opposition to the anti-SLAPP motion, Park did not cite to *Equilon* at all.¹¹ Even in Respondent's Brief ("Res.Br.") in the appeal, he only cited *Equilon* three times, as follows:

1) "In evaluating an anti-SLAPP statute, courts must first determine whether the defendant has made a threshold showing that the challenged cause of action arises from protected activity." (Resp.Br. at 21, citing *Equilon*, 29 Cal.4th at 67.)

2) "If the court finds the defendant has made the threshold showing, it determines then whether the plaintiff has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on the claim." (Resp. Br. at 21-22, citing *Equilon*, p. 68, fn. 5.)

3) "Should the Court decide to rule on the issue of the second prong, it must determine whether Dr. Park has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on his claims." (Resp. Br. At 35, citing *Equilon*, p. 68, fn. 5.)

¹¹ See, Volume 2 of the Clerk's Transcript, at 156. CSU notes from the Court's online docket that the record on appeal is forwarded to it. Nonetheless, CSU will provide the Court with the documents from the appellate record in an Appendix, upon request.

Park made no further reference in Respondent's Brief to *Equilon*, nor did he argue that its holding was inconsistent with the position CSU asserted in the anti-SLAPP motion or on appeal, or even relevant to the discussion. CSU does not dispute the legal propositions for which Park cited *Equilon* in Respondent's Brief. However, CSU does dispute Park's new assertion in this Petition that the Opinion that adopts CSU's argument on Step One is suddenly inconsistent with *Equilon*.

Park now cites extensively from *Equilon* on the "arising from" requirement of the statute (Petition at 7-8). He does so as if the quoted language was a holding that this Court applied to the facts in *Equilon*. Not so. Instead, and what Park omits, is that the quoted language was in the Court's "Public Policy" discussion on why a moving defendant need not show an intent-to-chill to prevail on an anti-SLAPP motion. 29 Cal.4th at 65. And that was preceded by an acknowledgment that the Legislature provided, and California courts have recognized, substantive and procedural limitations that protect plaintiffs from overbroad applications of the anti-SLAPP statute. *Id.* The Court then gave examples, including the citations by Park and followed with:

In sum, as section 425.16 already contains express limitations on the availability and impact of the anti-SLAPP motions, courts confronting such motions are well equipped to deny, mitigate, or even sanction them when appropriate. Contrary to *Equilon*'s suggestion, therefore, it is not necessary that we impose an

additional intent-to-chill limitation in order to avoid jeopardizing meritorious lawsuits.

Id. at 66. The Court then affirmed the granting of the anti-SLAPP motion.

Id. at 68. *Equilon* is factually distinct from the case before this Court, is not controlling of the issues in this case, and Park's attempt to create a conflict between *Equilon* and the Opinion fails, as discussed in more detail below.¹²

B. The Procedural/Substantive Distinction Park Draws From *Equilon* Is Misstated And Misapplied; The Opinion Here Is Not Inconsistent With *San Ramon* And Similar Cases

Park argues that cases cited by the Majority in the Opinion fail to note that *Kibler* was careful to distinguish the peer review process from the termination decision itself and quotes from *Kibler* as follows:

To hold . . . that hospital peer review proceedings are *not* 'official proceedings authorized by law' . . . would further discourage participation in peer review by allowing disciplined physicians to file harassing lawsuits against hospitals and their peer review committee members rather than seeking judicial review of the committee's decision by the available means of a petition for administrative mandate.

(Petition at 15-16, quoting 39 Cal.4th at 201.) Park fails to recognize that this Court was distinguishing between challenges for procedural

¹²Understandably, the Majority did not cite to *Equilon* anywhere in the Opinion. In contrast, the Dissent is based on *Equilon*. Park's Petition parrots the Dissent and, thus, CSU responds to the Dissent in the context of Park's arguments.

deficiencies in the official proceeding, raised by writs of mandate, and challenges to the substantive evaluation, consideration and decision in the peer review process, raised in civil actions for damages. The former addresses the committee not complying with the procedure it is required to follow, and seeks to force it to comply. The latter seeks damages and injunctive relief for denial of benefits, which arise from peer review committee statements and conduct.

Park also asserts that the Opinion is inconsistent with *San Ramon Valley Fire Protection Dist. v. Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Ass'n* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 343 (Petition at 1), which, according to Park, holds that an act of "governance" mandated by law, without more, is not an exercise of free speech or petition. (Petition at 5). In so arguing, Park fails to recognize that, unlike *San Ramon*, this case does not involve "governance" issues, which arise in the context of executive or quasi-executive decisions. This case involves quasi-judicial events. In *San Ramon*, a fire protection district sued the governing board of county employees' retirement association, seeking mandate and declaratory relief to set aside the board's vote to adopt certain employee contribution amounts for retirement benefits. The basis for the suit was the board's failure to comply with mandatory duties set forth in the retirement law, abusing discretion by acting without guidance of any policy or precedent, denying a motion for reconsideration based on procedural grounds,

violating ministerial duties, and failing to keep a verbatim record and swear in witness at the board meetings, to name a few. Each of the bases for the suit was an alleged quasi-executive decision and/or a procedural deficiency; it was not a claim for damages arising from a decision based on protected statements and conduct in an official proceeding authorized by law, as is present here.

Similarly, in *Graffiti Protective Coatings, Inc. v. City of Pico Rivera* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1207, relied on by Park (Petition at 5,11-13, 16-17), the court declined to apply the anti-SLAPP statute to a claim for a writ of mandate and declaratory relief seeking to enforce competitive bidding laws found in the Public Contract Code and the City's municipal code, which "invite competition; guard against favoritism, improvidence, extravagance, fraud, and corruption; and secure the best work at the lowest price practicable." *Id.* at 1224. The court held that the *improper use* of a competitive bidding process is not protected, nor "is the mistake of forgoing the bidding process altogether."¹³ *Id.* Again, *Graffiti* is a procedural deficiency case.

¹³ In *Graffiti* a contract to maintain bus stops was terminated after four years, as permitted. However, the city then awarded the contract to a competitor "without inviting competitive bids" as required. The action sought a writ of mandate and declaratory relief to compel the city to award the contract through competitive bidding. *Id.* at 1211. Unlike here, where Petitioner seeks damages and a reversal of the substantive decision denying him tenure, the action in *Graffiti* was not to award plaintiff the contract, it

Park also relies on *City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 69 (Pet. at 1-8, 10, 12, 17), another declaratory relief action. In *Cotati*, an anti-SLAPP motion was granted, and reversed by the Court of Appeal, on a city's declaratory relief action in state court seeking to determine if a mobile home park rent stabilization ordinance was constitutional and valid. *Id.* at 71-72. This Court held that, despite the fact that the defendant in the state action had filed a prior federal action challenging the legality of the ordinance, the city's state action did not arise from the federal action (petition); it arose from the "dispute" over the legality of the ordinance. *Id.* at 80.

The distinction between cases seeking to force an entity to correct a procedural deficiency, and cases for damages based on decisions made in a quasi-judicial proceeding also can be drawn from *USA Waste of California, Inc. v. City of Irwindale* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 53. In *USA Waste*, the court declined to apply the anti-SLAPP statute to an action by a city for declaratory relief, breach of contract and equitable estoppel, recognizing that "[a]ctions to enforce, interpret or invalidate governmental laws generally are not subject to being stricken under the anti-SLAPP statute." *Id.* at 65. The court concluded, "[t]o extend the anti-SLAPP statute to

was to compel compliance with the competitive bidding process – a remedy to correct a procedural deficiency.

litigation merely challenging the application, interpretation, or validity of a statute or ordinance would expand the reach of the statute way beyond any reasonable parameters.” *Id.* at 66.

To summarize, *San Ramon* and the other cases cited by Park involve mandate and declaratory relief type actions addressing the application, interpretation, or validity of a statute, ordinance, or rule, or a procedural deficiency in applying them.¹⁴ Cases that deny anti-SLAPP motions on this type of action recognize that such requests for judicial relief must be distinguished from requests for damages that are fundamentally based on alleged injury arising from conduct, such as peer review activity. See, *Young v. Tri-City Healthcare Dist.* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 35, 57. The cases relied on by Park do not involve claims for damages, or claims arising from tenure decisions (or statements related thereto), as is present here.

There is no inconsistency between the Opinion and these cases.

¹⁴ In *Schwarzburd v. Kensington Police Protection & Community Services Dist. Bd.* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1345 (Petition at 12.), objectors petitioned for a writ of mandate challenging a police protection board’s vote to increase the police chief’s compensation package and pay him a merit bonus based on procedural deficiencies with the board meeting. The anti-SLAPP motion was denied as to the Board based on *San Ramon*, supra, another case challenging the *procedure* employed by the governmental entity.

C. **The Opinion Will Not Result In Different Interpretations Of The
“Arising From” Requirement Of The Anti-SLAPP Statute**

Park argues that the Opinion will result in two different interpretations of “arising” from requirement, citing to hospital peer review proceeding cases. Again, Park ignores the substantive/procedural distinction.

In *Nesson v. Northern Inyo County Local Hosp. Dist.* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 65, 83-84,¹⁵ a doctor who was terminated sued for damages for retaliation and FEHA claims of discrimination, among others. The hospital’s anti-SLAPP motion to the claim that challenged the substantive decision to summarily terminate the doctor’s hospital benefits was granted, and affirmed on appeal. The *Nesson* court relied on this Court’s holding in *Kibler, supra*, 39 Cal.4th 192, 199, that hospital peer review proceedings are “official proceedings authorized by law.” 204 Cal.App.4th at 79. Here, Park’s claims are not based on an unfair tenure hearing; they are based on a substantive challenge to the decision to deny him tenure (and statements related thereto), to which the Anti-SLAPP statute applies under *Nesson* and *Kibler*. 39 Cal.App.4th at 1271-72.

¹⁵ Disapproved on other grounds in *Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hospitals* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 655, 686, fn 18.

Similarly, *Decambre v. Rady Children's Hospital – San Diego* (2015) 253 Cal.App.4th 1, cited by Park (Petition at 14, 16), does not require a different result. In *Decambre*, also relying on *Kibler*, the Court of Appeal upheld the granting of an anti-SLAPP motion based on a “decision” to not renew a physician’s contract despite the allegation that it was based on racial and sexual discrimination.¹⁶ *Id.* at 15-16. Park argues that *Nesson* and *Decambre* failed to follow a distinction in *Kibler* that Park derives from this quote:

To hold . . . that hospital peer review proceedings are *not* ‘official proceedings authorized by law’ . . . would further discourage participation in peer review by allowing disciplined physicians to file harassing lawsuits against hospitals and their peer review committee members rather than seeking judicial review of the committee’s decision by the available means of a petition for administrative mandate.

(Petition at 15-16, citing *Kibler*, 39 Cal.4th at 201.) The distinction this Court made in *Kibler* is the procedural vs. substantive distinction discussed above. *Nesson* and *Decambre* did not need to address the distinction because they did not involve a writ of mandate for procedural deficiencies; they involved substantive decisions in the peer review proceedings. So too

¹⁶The *Decambre* court also reversed the granting of the anti-SLAPP motion on causes of action for harassment, intentional infliction of emotional distress and defamation because the acts that formed the bases of these causes of action occurred throughout the employment and not just in the peer review process. *Id.* at 16-21.

does this case.

Contrary to Park's assertion, the *Equilon* "requirements" do not result in a different conclusion in *Young*, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th 35. Unlike Park's substantive challenge here, *Young* involved a procedural deficiency challenge to the hospital peer review proceedings. The anti-SLAPP motion in *Young* challenged a cause of action for mandamus seeking judicial review of the administrative record and an order for reinstatement "by alleging that it was not carried out properly by a qualified committee, the review of his records were done improperly, and the suspension was not supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* at 55. Indeed, the *Young* court stated: "His request for judicial relief from an administrative decision should be distinguished from requests for damages that are fundamentally based on alleged injury arising from such peer review activity."¹⁷ *Id.* at 57.

Properly read and applied, none of the cases cited by Park are inconsistent with the Opinion here.

¹⁷ Other cases cited by Park also do not support him.¹⁷ In *Gotterba v. Travolta* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 35, the issue was whether "demand letters" indicating the intention to seek declaratory judgment concerning the authenticity and enforceability of a nondisclosure agreement between an employee and employer was protected activity. The court denied an anti-SLAPP motion, finding that the demand letters did not create the "actual controversy;" the controversy existed independent of the demand letters. *Id.* at 41-42. No such issues are present here and no demand for damages was involved in *Gotterba*.

D. The Opinion Does Not Immunize Employment Decisions, Governmental Official Proceedings, Or Any Specific Cause Of Action – It Only Addresses Step One Of The Two-Step Anti-SLAPP Motion Analysis

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